1989

Jennifer Josephs v. Maximillian Gregoric : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Plaintiff's cause of action against Defendant was tried on December 5, 1988 before the Honorable Philip K. Palmer in the Third Judicial Circuit Court, State of Utah, Salt Lake County, Salt Lake Department. The court issued its Memorandum of Decision on December 9, 1988 and signed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and an Order of Judgment on January 13, 1989. Plaintiff, appellant herein, filed her Notice of Appeal and Undertaking on February 10, 1989. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to decide this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 78-2a-3(d) (1953 as amended).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. Was Respondent required to inform Appellant of infringements on Respondent's use of the premises prior to his abandonment thereof before a finding of constructive eviction could be made?

B. Was the court's award of one month's rent to Appellant a recognition that Respondent had breached the lease?

C. Did Respondent breach the lease by failing to give Appellant any written notice of his intention to vacate the premises?

D. Was Appellant entitled to damages and attorney's fees and costs for Respondent's breach of lease?

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF UTAH

JENNIFER JOSEPHS, :
Plaintiff/Appellant, :
vs. :
MAXIMILLIAN GREGORIC, : Case No. 890080-CA
Defendant/Respondent. :

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 5, 1988 Appellant's cause of action for breach of lease claiming rent owing, damages, attorney's fees and costs was tried before the Honorable Philip K. Palmer, Third Judicial Circuit Court, State of Utah, Salt Lake County, Salt Lake Department. Respondent claimed that Appellant had breached the lease by denying him full and free use of the leased premises. Respondent also counterclaimed for the amount of his cleaning deposit because of Appellant's failure to comply with Utah Code Ann. Section 57-17-3 (1953 as amended) (Memorandum of Decision 41, hereinafter "Memo") (Addendum "A").

Upon hearing the matter, the trial court found that Appellant had constructively evicted Respondent, but that Respondent was required to mitigate Appellant's damages in the amount of one month's rent (\$630.00), and was further responsible for payment of a fuel bill (\$167.15) and the cleaning deposit (\$400.00, already in Appellant's possession), plus twelve (12%) percent interest on the unpaid judgment, all in the amount of

\$797.15. Respondent's counterclaim was dismissed. Neither party was awarded fees or costs, nor was Appellant awarded the cost of air fare in having to return to Utah to arrange to re-lease the premises (Memo 42, and 43).

Thereafter, Appellant filed this appeal.

The parties entered into a Lease-Rental Agreement (hereinafter "Lease" 4.5, Addendum "B") under which Respondent/Tenant was to pay to Appellant/Owner, through her agent Jerry Cox, Six Hundred (\$630.00) Dollars per month for a period of one year beginning October 1, 1986. The Lease further provided that upon tenant's failure to pay rent or to perform any term of the Lease, the owner might terminate the tenant's rights under the Lease and recover from him all damages incurred by reason of tenant's breach of the Lease. The Lease provided for termination upon sixty (60) days written notice, and placed Respondent on notice that Appellant and her guests would occasionally be occupying the Appellant/Landlord's apartment (a separate unit within the residence but with common entry). Also, the Lease provided that if the owner should prevail in any legal action to enforce the terms of the Lease or relating to the premises, the owner would be entitled to costs and reasonable attorney's fees.

The Respondent moved out of the premises at the end of April, 1987 (Transcript of Proceedings, hereinafter "TP"92, Addendum "C"). Appellant testified that she made demand upon Respondent for rent prior to commencing suit (TP 13 - Note:

Testimony excluded from record in error). In order to re-lease the premises Appellant had to refurnish ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~in the amount of~~ ^{in the amount of} One hundred fifty eight (\$158.00) Dollars (Memo 41, and Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit #4; Addendum "D"). Thereafter, Appellant retained an attorney to pursue this matter who pled his fee at trial in the amount of Eight hundred forty (\$840.00) Dollars (TP 99) (Addendum "C"). Said costs and fees were not disputed by Respondent at trial.

Relevant to the trial court's holding concerning constructive eviction, Respondent's failure to give notice under the lease, and Appellant's award are the following Findings of Fact (hereinafter "Findings") (Addendum "E")

5. Plaintiff and her guest's use of Defendant's portion of the premises was an unwelcome intrusion.

6. The Defendant was under a duty to notify Plaintiff in writing (60) days prior of his intention to leave the premises.

7. Defendant did not provide to Plaintiff the required (60) day written notice prior to his leaving the premises.

8. The Defendant never conveyed to Plaintiff how the actions of her guests were denying him full use of the premises.

9. As a result of Defendant's failure to notify Plaintiff that the actions of her guests were denying him full use of the premise,s Plaintiff was never able to correct said situation.

10. Plaintiff suffered the loss of two months rent

before she could re-lease the premises after Defendant left. (Findings 50).

Respondent and each and every one of his witnesses testified at trial that they never directly complained to Appellant that her uninvited entry upon Respondent's portion of the premises was unwelcome (TP 48, 55, 81, 102) (Addendum "C").

According to the Court's Conclusions of Law (hereinafter "Conclusions"):

1. That Plaintiff constructively breached the lease by not confining her use of the premises and that of her guest to that of the Landlord's apartment and by her and her guest's use of Defendant's portion of the premises.

2. Defendant failed to mitigate his damages by not informing Plaintiff of his intention to leave the premises (60) days prior to his leaving and never conveying to Plaintiff how the actions of her guests were denying him full use of the premises so as to permit her to correct the situation. (Conclusion 51).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent breached the Lease by abandoning the premises without required notice before the Lease's expiration and without further payment of rent. Respondent should not be relieved of the obligation to pay future rent, on account of constructive eviction because he never gave Appellant notice of alleged complaints concerning the premises. Respondent, on

account of his breach of the Lease, is also liable to Appellant for attorney's fees, costs and damages.

ARGUMENT

POINT I - RESPONDENT BREACHED THE LEASE, AND THE TRIAL COURT IMPLICITLY RECOGNIZED THAT BREACH IN SPITE OF ITS FINDING THAT A CONSTRUCTIVE EVICTION OF RESPONDENT HAD OCCURRED RELIEVING HIM OF THE DUTY TO PAY RENT.

Respondent entered into a Lease with Appellant wherein Respondent agreed to lease certain premises for one year beginning October 1, 1986. Respondent moved out at the end of April, 1987, and Appellant suffered the loss of two months rent before she could re-lease the premises as a result of Respondent's failure to give notice required by the Lease. None of the foregoing is disputed in the record.

The trial court did not expressly hold that the Respondent had breached the Lease, but rather determined that he was required to share in the loss of two months rent suffered by Appellant as a result of his leaving the premises before the expiration of the leasehold term. While the trial court's Memo is unclear as to its rationale for holding Respondent liable for one month's rent only, it would appear from the context in which the trial court discusses Respondent's failure to give Appellant notice of acts supporting the claim of constructive eviction that the trial court also found the Respondent's alleged verbal notice 30 days prior to his leaving a failure to perform under the Lease.

Further evidence that the trial court effectively determined a breach of the Lease, is its award of one month's rent in spite of its finding of a constructive eviction by Appellant. A well-settled principle of law concerning constructive eviction states:

"Where the tenant has rightfully abandoned the possession, he is not required to return, upon the landlord's removal of the cause of the constructive eviction, so as to render him liable for future rents."

49 Am. Jur. 2d Landlord and Tenant, Section 576 (1972) (citation omitted).

The trial court was evidently aware of the foregoing general principle in stating that as a result of Appellant's constructive breach of the Lease she could not complain about the Respondent's moving out (Memo 42). Clearly the trial court regarded Respondent's failure to give written notice 60 days prior to his leaving the premises as an independent act amounting to a breach for which Appellant was entitled to compensation.

Upon a finding of breach of Lease by Respondent, and apart from a finding that Appellant had constructively evicted Respondent from the premises, the trial court should have awarded Appellant the two months rent lost as a result of Respondent's surrender of the premises and lack of sufficient notice, attorney's fees, costs and damages (air fare of \$158.00) without offset since Respondent never pled for damages as a result of the alleged constructive eviction. See Petersen v. Hodges, 239 P.2d 180, 182 (Utah 1953) (stating rule that in an action to recover rent, attorney's fees may be awarded only if there is an

agreement to that effect); see also Thirteenth & Washington Sts. Corp. v. Neslen, 254 P.2d 847, 850 (Utah 1951) (stating that but for tenant's justified claim of constructive eviction, landlord would be entitled to recover rent for the period following tenant's vacating during which premises remained vacant. Only the trial court's finding of Appellant's constructive eviction precludes such recovery.

POINT II - A TENANT CANNOT SURRENDER A
LEASEHOLD CLAIMING A CONSTRUCTIVE
EVICTION RELIEVING HIM OF A DUTY
TO PAY RENT WHERE HE HAS FAILED
TO GIVE THE LANDLORD NOTICE OF
COMPLAINTS CONSTITUTING HIS CLAIM
OF CONSTRUCTIVE EVICTION, THUS
DEPRIVING THE LANDLORD OF AN
OPPORTUNITY TO REMEDY THE PROBLEMS
COMPLAINED OF.

According to major treatise authority notice to the landlord that the premises are unfit or uninhabitable for tenant's purposes are required prior to a tenant's abandonment. See 49 Am. Jr. 2d Landlord and Tenant Section 840 (1970). Whenever courts have considered the issue of tenant's failure to give the landlord notice of the complaints comprising his claim of constructive eviction as a defense to the landlord's action for rent, those courts have uniformly held that such notice is a prerequisite to the tenant's claim of constructive eviction. See Applegate v. Inland Real Estate Corporation, 441 N.E. 2d 379, 383 (Ill. App. Ct. 1982); Erickson v. Elliott, 31 P.2d 506, 508 (Wash. 1934); Eskanos and Supperstein v. Irwin, 637 P.2d 403 (Colo. Ct. App. 1981); Kaplan v. McCabe, 532 So. 2d 1354 (Fla.

Dist. Ct. App. 1988); Middagh v. Stanal Sound Ltd., 382 N.W. 2d 303, 308 (Neb. 1986); and SGM Partnership v. Nelson, 705 P.2d 49, 52 (Hawaii Ct. App. 1985).

In Tietig v. Kusik, 279 So. 2d 890 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1973) lessor-owner of a condominium unit brought suit against a lesser for rent due. The trial court granted Plaintiff's motion for a directed verdict and Defendant appealed. On appeal the District Court held that the Defendant was not entitled to abandon the premises on a theory of constructive eviction. There the constructive eviction was an alleged harassment by officers of the condominium depriving lessees of quiet possession and enjoyment of the premises. In denying appellant's relief the district court stated:

Second, and more important, "a tenant who alleges construction eviction by virtue of acts which fall short of actual eviction, are not patently immoral or illegal, are not expressly forbidden by the terms of the lease, and are susceptible to remedy, should and must give timely notice to the landlord of the objectionable act and demand rectification. Failing in this duty, the tenant cannot be heard to complain of the acts in defense to an action for rent." [Emphasis supplied] Richards v. Dodge, Fla. App. 1963, 150 So. 2d 477. The record reveals that defendant tenant did not transmit actual notice of his complaints to the plaintiff landlord, Mr. Kusik.

Id. at 891. The district court also found that the award of attorney's fees was clearly provided for in the lease and thereby properly awarded by the trial court. Id. at 891.

While the requirement of notice to the landlord of complaints supporting a claim of constructive eviction has not been expressly addressed in Utah the Notice requirement has at

least been impliedly recognized. In Thirteenth and Washington St. Corp. v. Neslen, 254 P 2d 847 (Utah 1953) the lessors of office space sued for rent owing following lessee's removal from the premises on the ground of constructive eviction. The trial court refused to grant lessors relief upon a finding of constructive eviction and the Supreme Court affirmed. In recognizing the validity of defendant's claim, the Court noted that repeated complaints were made and were followed by promises from the Plaintiff's agents that the conditions would be improved, all of which justified defendant's remaining in the premises long after Defendants had made the initial complaint See id. at 852.

In light of Respondent's failure to complain to Appellant about alleged breach of the Lease, allegedly committed by either Appellant or her guests, so as to permit Appellant to rectify those alleged problems, Respondent should not now be permitted to avoid its obligations under the Lease and under the law.


CONCLUSION

Appellant requests a determination by the Court that Respondent breached the lease and that the trial court committed prejudicial error in finding and concluding that Appellant had constructively evicted Respondent. Upon such determination Appellant request award of two months rent, damages, attorney's fees and costs.