1989

# Jennifer Josephs v. Maximilian Gregoric : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is the Respondent's argument that Appellant breached the lease through constructive eviction. Because of this constructive eviction, Respondent should not have to pay any future rent nor be liable for attorney's fees, costs and damages.

### ARGUMENT

Respondent and Appellant entered into a lease agreement October 1, 1986. From the beginning of the lease agreement, Appellant and her guests trespassed on Respondent's residence. This problem continued throughout the tenancy and the trial court recognized this as a constructive eviction.

Munic Meat Co. v. H. Gartenberg & Co., 51 Ill. App. 3d 413, 416, 9 Ill. Dec. 360, 366 N.E. 2d 617 states:

"It is not essential that there be an express intention of the landlord to compel a tenant to leave the demised premises or to deprive him of their beneficial enjoyment, since persons are presumed to intend the natural and probable consequence of their acts and, accordingly, acts or omissions of the landlord making it necessary for the tenant to move from the demised premises constitutes a constructive eviction."

Appellant argues that since there were no complaints by Respondent to Appellant regarding the continuing problems of Appellant's guests entering Respondent's residence, Appellant had no chance to rectify these problems. Respondent, therefore,

could not use constructive eviction as a defense. By referring to the Transcript of Proceedings, Addendum "A", (Pages 6, 15, 60, 61, 80, 81, 95, 96, 100), it is quite evident that Respondent did complain to Appellant about problems with Appellant's guests and Appellant acknowledged these complaints were made during the trial proceedings. Appellant also stated that she had made some effort to rectify these problems. Yet, problems of the same nature continued to arise. In Eskanos and Supperstein v. Irwin, 637 P.2d 403 (Colo. Ct. App. 1981), we see a similiar case where Irwin claimed constructive eviction due to, at times, intolerable noise levels. Initial complaints resulted in some effort to reduce noise, but problems of the same nature continued to exist after plaintiff claimed to have solved these problems. The court concluded that there was a constructive eviction.

In yet another case, Applegate v. Inland Real Estate Corporation, 441 N.E.2d 379 (Ill. App. Ct. 1982), under plaintiff's claim of constructive eviction, the court found that although plaintiff had made attempts to notify landlord of problems, but never did, the notice requirement was not a bar to recovery under the circumstances of the case. The reasoning behind this conclusion was that the:

"...problem was persistent if not permanent and that an opportunity for an attempt to cure would have availed the plaintiff little."

In the Respondent's case, the problem of lack of quiet enjoyment of residence persisted throughout the tenancy.

Appellant's continued lack of control over her guests and agents stemmed from her inherent belief that it was appropriate to trespass in her own house, even though it was rented to others. This is in direct conflict with the Entry and Inspection clause of the Lease-Rental Agreement, (Addendum "B"). The Entry and Inspection clause states that "Tenant shall permit Owner or Owner's agents to enter the premises at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice...". Appellant never notified Respondent that she and her friends would be entering the premises nor did they ensure that they were entering at "reasonable times".

#### CONCLUSION


Respondent requests that the court concur with the trial court's decision that a constructive eviction did exist, but that the trial court erred in finding Respondent liable for one month's rent (\$630.00) due to the well-settled principle of law concerning constructive eviction that states:

"Where the tenant has rightfully abandoned the possession, he is not required to return, upon the landlord's removal of the cause of the constructive eviction, so as to render him liable for future rents."

49 Am. Jur. 2d Landlord and Tenant, Section 576 (1972), (Citation Omitted). Respondent also requests that he not be liable for damages, costs and attorney's fees.